IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
THOMAS D. HALL
2000 FEB -7 A 10:51
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
BY [Signature]

CLEMENTE JAVIER)
AQUIRRE-JARQUIN,)
)
)
Appellant,)
)
vs.)
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
Appellee.)
_____)

CASE NUMBER SC06-1550

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632
444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
(386) 252-3367
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Counsel will refer to the original record on appeal using a Roman numeral to designate the volume followed by the appropriate Arabic number designating the pertinent pages. Counsel will designate the supplemental record as (SR) with the appropriate Roman numeral to designate the volume followed by the Arabic number referring to pages therein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 13, 2004, the spring term grand jury, Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Seminole County, returned an indictment charging appellant with two counts of first-degree murder of Cheryl Williams and Carol Bareis. (I 20-22) The state also charged appellant by information with burglary of dwelling with an assault or battery therein. (SR I 881) The indictment and information were subsequently consolidated. (SR I 882-83) On August 30, 2004, the state filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty. (I 27)

Appellant filed several pleadings attacking the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty sentencing scheme. *See e.g.*, (I 50-88, 96-98, 103-123) Following a pretrial hearing, the trial court denied the majority of appellant's motions. (XVI 515) The pertinent motions will be discussed *infra*. (XVI 515)

Appellant was represented by the Office of the Public Defender at the trial level. Approximately one year before trial commenced, appellant began complaining about his lawyers. (XVI 436-55) At several pretrial hearings, appellant vocalized his complaints. Each time, the trial court conducted a *Nelson*² hearing. At the first two hearings, appellant's complaints were addressed and he chose to remain with his appointed counsel's representation. (XVI 436-455, 459-

² *Nelson v. State*, 274 So.2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973).

89) A third *Nelson* hearing was held on November 8, 2005. (XVI 546-89) Appellant requested that he be allowed to represent himself. (XVI 581) After a discussion with the trial judge, appellant decided there was no real choice but to represent himself. (XVI 581-88)

The case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable O.H. Eaton, Jr. (VI 1) During jury selection, the trial court denied appellant's cause challenge of juror Dorothy Morse. (VII 329) Appellant subsequently exhausted all of his peremptory challenges, and requested an additional challenge. (IX 678-81, 684) The trial court denied the request and the appellant was unable to strike juror Weinberg who ultimately sat on the jury. (IX 678-80)

During the state's case-in-chief, the trial court allowed testimony from Samantha Williams that appellant had trespassed in their home in the middle of the night approximately seven months prior to the murders. (IX 758-67)

At the close of the state's evidence, appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal, which the trial court denied. (XIII 1406-8)

Appellant testified in his own behalf. (XIII 1417-46) Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on all three counts. (II 288-90; XIII 1591)

A penalty phase convened on March 9, 2006. (II 298; XIV 1-200; XV 201-

400; XVI 401-12) Throughout the penalty phase, the trial court repeatedly rebuffed the state's requests to instruct the jury on the witness elimination aggravating circumstance. (XIV 80-90)

Appellant objected to the jury being instructed on the heightened premeditation aggravating factor. (XIV 93-95) The trial court overruled the objection and instructed the jury that they could consider that particular aggravating circumstance for the murder of Carol Bareis. (XV 387-88) The trial court subsequently concluded that the state failed to prove this aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt. (III 424)

Following deliberations, the jury returned two advisory recommendations. By a seven to five bare majority, the jury recommended that appellant be put to death for the murder of Cheryl Williams. (II 318) By a nine to three vote, the jury recommended that appellant be executed for the murder of Carol Bareis. (II 319)

On June 1, 2006, the trial court heard additional testimony and evidence at the *Spencer*³ hearing. (II 340-490) Both parties submitted sentencing memorandums. (II 350-370; III 371-406)

On June 30, 2006, the trial court sentenced appellant to death for each of the two murders. (III 408) The trial court rendered a sentencing order setting forth the

³ *Spencer v. State*, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

aggravating and mitigating circumstances considered and found. (III 409-32)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on July 7, 2006. (III 440-41)

During the pendency of this appeal, the state complied with their duty of continuing discovery. On April 13, 2007, the Office of the State Attorney, Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, filed notice that the Seminole County Sheriff's Office had received a complaint about the quality of Donna Birks' work in the latent print section. On May 4, 2007, the Office of the State Attorney sent an email to Tim Caudill, Assistant Public Defender and appellant's trial counsel, stating that the FDLE did not agree that the latent print on the knife was of sufficient value to identify appellant as the person who touched the knife.

Appellant filed an unopposed motion for relinquishment of jurisdiction to resolve the issue. The trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing on September 25, 2007. (SR I 953-1042) On October 16, 2007, the trial court rendered an order denying appellant's motion for new trial and directed the clerk to return the record on appeal to this Honorable Court. (SR I 940-52)

This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Guilt/Innocence Phase

A manufactured home at 121 Vagabond Way, Seminole County, Florida, in the Altamonte Springs area housed three generations of women. Cheryl Williams lived there with her mother Carol Bareis, a stroke victim who used a wheelchair to help her get around. Cheryl Williams' daughter, Samantha, a woman in her early twenties, lived there also. (IX 769-70, 776-77) On the night of June 16, 2004, Samantha spent the night with her boyfriend, Mark Van Sandt. (IX 770)

At approximately 9:00 a.m. on June 17, 2004, Van Sandt went to the mobile home on Vagabond Way to retrieve some work clothes for Samantha. He discovered the body of Cheryl Williams just inside the front door of the mobile home.⁴ (IX 726-35) Williams had been stabbed to death. She suffered a total of 129 separate wounds to her body. The medical examiner characterized many of the wounds as defensive. The stab wounds to her lungs would have resulted in unconsciousness within three or four minutes. (XII 1342-63; XIV 32-43) Some of Williams' wounds appeared to be peri-mortem, that is, close to the time of death. She may have been unconscious and therefore unable to feel these wounds. (XII

⁴ The women never locked any of their doors, even at night. (IX 733, 782-83, 787-88)

1332-37; XIV 58-62)

Carol Bareis was found in another part of the home. Bareis lived in the living room portion of the trailer which was one step down from the rest of the living quarters. (XIV 62-71) She had been stabbed once in the heart resulting in a fatal wound. She had been stabbed a second time in her back. Bareis died fairly instantaneously from the first stab wound to her heart. (XIV 39)

Appellant, an illegal immigrant from Honduras, lived next door at 117 Vagabond Way. He slept in a shed that was attached to a manufactured home at that address. Appellant shared the main portion of the mobile home with Feleciano Sequeida and Sequeida's cousin, Guillermo Espinosa. (X 771-72, 836, 841) All three worked at Luigino's Pasta and Steak House, a Heathrow restaurant. (IX 771-72, 781-82; X 836-45) Appellant sometimes socialized with his neighbors, especially Samantha Williams, who was close to his age. Although Appellant's English was not the best, the pair sometimes barbequed and drank beer together. (IX 771-73, 781-82, 784-85)

Appellant had been drinking for most of the night of June 16, 2004. (X 843-45) During the early morning hours of June 17, 2004, appellant knocked on Sequeida's bedroom door and asked to use his telephone. (X 839) Appellant wanted a beer that morning, but there was none in the house. (X 843-45)

Sequeida was unsure if appellant actually used the phone that morning. They were interrupted by the police knocking at their door and asking questions about the murders next door. (X 839-42)

Clothing apparently belonging to the appellant, was found in a bag on the roof of the shed where he lived. Appellant voluntarily handed over the bag to police. The clothing had blood stains that matched the DNA profile of Cheryl Williams. (XI 1158-69) Police also found a Sysco knife⁵ in the yard outside of the victims' home. The knife had blood stains on the handle and blade. (XII 1223-24) Forensic testing indicated that the blood belonged to the two victims. (IX 797-98; X 810)

There were several latent prints made in blood on the handle of the knife. Donna Birks, a latent fingerprint examiner from FDLE testified at appellant's trial that a partial palm print on the handle of the knife matched that of the appellant. (X 959-87) During the pendency of this direct appeal, the credibility of that witness, Donna Birks, was called into question. Subsequent examination of the latent print on the handle of the knife revealed that it had no value and could not be connected to the appellant. (SR I 885-1043)

⁵ The knife was similar to those used in the restaurant where appellant and his roommates worked. (X 914-25) One of appellant's roommates testified that the knife looked to be similar to one they owned. (X 838, 914-941)

A blood spatter witness testified that the clothing recovered from the roof of appellant's shed had patterns that were consistent with a struggle between Cheryl Williams and the appellant. (XII 1264-1316) Bloody footprints throughout the victim's mobile home could have been made by appellant's shoes. The witness could not say they matched, only that they were similar. (XI 1006-9, 1048, 1099-1111-12)

Appellant testified in his own defense. He explained that he went next door that morning only to discover that his neighbors had been stabbed to death. He tended to Cheryl Williams before realizing that she was dead. His clothing became soaked with her blood when he attempted to revive her in his panicked state. When he realized the gravity of the situation, he became fearful for his own life. Appellant spotted the bloody knife lying on the floor near Williams' body. Fearing that her assailant was still in the house, he picked up the knife to defend himself. He tracked blood throughout the mobile home as he searched for the perpetrator. He discovered Carol Bareis' body elsewhere in the house before fleeing in a panic. He did not even remember dropping the knife outside. He did not call the police because he was fearful that he would be deported as an illegal alien. He initially lied to police because of his initial fear and confusion. (XIII 1417-46)

Evidence in Mitigation

Appellant was the youngest of four children and the only male child. His mother was married to his father, but had not been married to the fathers of appellant's older two sisters. Appellant was born in Honduras. His mother had difficulty during appellant's delivery. The doctors ultimately performed a cesarian section and appellant was born after a period of oxygen deprivation. He was very sickly as a child. (XIV 139) Appellant's parents separated and his father moved in with an underaged woman. She was the same age as appellant's older sister. The father did not provide much support to his prior family. Appellant's mother worked as a maid. (XIV 139-40)

Appellant blamed himself for his parents' separation. His father was a steady drinker, probably an alcoholic. He was violent toward appellant's mother. (XIV 140-42) As a child, appellant was disciplined with beatings from hands, belts, wooden sticks, or any object that was handy. These beatings left marks on appellant's body. The punishment was meted out for relatively minor offenses. (XIV 143-44)

When appellant was eight years old, he and a male friend were sexually abused by a thirteen-year-old neighborhood girl. The social stigma and psychological damage is sometimes more difficult for a young boy than for a girl.

(XIV 144-45)

The area where appellant grew up was stricken with poverty. Gangs were prevalent and essentially ran the community. Appellant had a friend who was murdered by a gang. (XIV 146-47) Appellant obtained the equivalent of a high school diploma. His schooling ended at the age of eighteen. (XIV 148-49) Appellant was ridiculed for his short stature. This resulted in low self esteem and difficulty in establishing trusting relationships. (XIV 149-50)

Appellant had a history of using drugs, especially inhalants. He began using cocaine at the age of eighteen and it became his drug of choice. The mental health experts described the highly addictive psychological nature of cocaine when combined with alcohol. (XIV 156-59) He was able to get cocaine cheaply from his roommates. (XIV 161)

Appellant told Dr. Day what transpired the day before and the morning of the murders. (XV 251-55) Appellant did not work the day before the homicides. He began drinking beer at 11 o'clock that morning. He could not remember exactly how much he drank during the next eighteen hours, but estimated about six pitchers of beer, ten individual beers, a couple of shots of tequila, and a shot of Jack Daniels. He and a friend then bought an eight ball of cocaine, approximately 2 ½ grams. After he finished that cocaine, appellant bought two more grams of

cocaine. Around 2 a.m., appellant realized that he was too drunk to drive, especially since he had no valid license. He and a friend bought more beer and went to a friend's house where they finished the cocaine. Appellant finally got home around 5 a.m.. After watching some television, he decided that he wanted another beer. There was no beer in his house, so he went next door to find one.

He found the front door cracked. He was unable to open the door completely, but he saw Cheryl Williams lying on the floor. He touched her and realized that she was dead. He tried to pick her up and laid her across his legs. He put her back down on the floor and began to walk around the house. The house had been ransacked. He found the other victim in the other room. He saw the knife in the middle of the murder scene. Fearing that the assailant is might still be in the house, he picked up the knife to use in self-defense. (XV 251-55)

Appellant could not explain why he took the knife when he left the trailer. He recalled throwing it down, but did not remember where. He went back to his room and took off his clothes to wash them. He thought about calling the police but did not, due to his illegal alien status. He put his soaked clothing in a plastic bag and threw them on the roof. Appellant could not explain this action. (XV 251-255)

Several hours later, the police showed up. Appellant did not tell the police

anything when initially questioned. Subsequently, appellant went to a friend's house and they began accusing him of committing the murders. Although he was unsure if they were serious, he became frightened. Appellant decided to tell the police everything. During the interrogation, the police told him that they had a lot of evidence against him. When the police claimed that the crimes were committed with a sexual motive, appellant refused to continue talking. (XV 255-256)

Two respected psychologists agreed that when appellant committed the murders, he was under the influence of a mental or emotional disturbance. They disagreed as to whether or not the disturbance was "extreme." The trial court resolved the disagreement in favor of the appellant. The court was reasonably convinced that appellant was under the influence of an extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the killings. However, the trial court gave only moderate weight to this statutory mitigating circumstance. This was based on the fact that appellant chose to abuse drugs. Additionally, the trial court found that it was not clear that the cocaine and alcohol "made" appellant commit the murders. (III 424-25)

The trial court also concluded that appellant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct and his ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law were also substantially impaired. This was based on the

“extreme emotional disturbance” referenced in the prior mitigating factor. For the same reasons cited in weighing the prior factor, the trial court assigned only moderate weight to this particular mitigating circumstance. (III 425)

The trial court also found appellant’s age at the time of the murders to be mitigating. Although appellant had a chronological age of twenty-four at the time of the murders, appellant had both significant emotional immaturity and mental problems. (III 426) The evidence reasonably convinced the trial judge that appellant’s psychological make-up was that of an adolescent. However, the trial court assigned little weight to this mitigating circumstance. The trial court noted that, despite appellant’s emotional immaturity, he was able to function in society. He came to this country from Honduras and “established” himself here. He held a dishwashing job at a restaurant and received a promotion to prep cook. Based on the foregoing, the trial judge assigned little weight to this mitigating circumstance. (III 426)

Nonstatutory Mitigating Circumstances.

The trial court found numerous nonstatutory mitigating factors to be applicable to appellant’s cases. The trial court found almost all of the following factors:

- (1) Appellant suffers from long term substance abuse.

There is no doubt that he had been using alcohol and cocaine during the hours just prior to the murders (moderate weight);

(2) Appellant was raised in a dysfunctional family setting without a father figure; appellant was left alone as a small child; appellant was subjected to severe punishment for violation of household rules. (Assigned little weight, because they do little to mitigate the murders in this case.);

(3) Appellant suffered from physical abuse as a child-little weight; (see discussion above);

(4) Appellant performed poorly in the later years of his education. This circumstance is established by the evidence and had the effect of limiting appellant's employment as evidenced by his work as a dishwasher. (assigned little weight without stating any reasons.);

(5) Appellant suffered brain damage as a result of his abuse of substances including inhalants. The trial court was reasonably convinced that appellant suffers from brain damage, but assigned only moderate weight where there is no evidence that the brain damage contributed to appellant's decision to murder the two victims.;

(6) The history of appellant's birth indicated that he suffered from oxygen deprivation and possible brain damage. Although evidence established this history, appellant's development was normal. The court was not convinced that the circumstances of his birth caused appellant any long term physical or emotional problems and, therefore was not mitigating in nature.

(III 424-26)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant challenges his convictions and death sentences based on numerous errors that occurred during the proceedings below. Initially, the trial court erroneously denied appellant his constitutional right to represent himself. After expressing dissatisfaction with this court-appointed lawyers on numerous occasions, appellant was clear and unequivocal in his request to represent himself. Inexplicably, the trial court misled appellant about the ramifications of proceeding *pro se*. The trial court told appellant that if he proceeded *pro se*, he would not have access to the prosecuting attorney “for the purpose of discussing what evidence might be presented or to negotiate a resolution.” The judge told appellant that “it takes a lawyer to do that.” He then chose to keep his court-appointed lawyers based on the trial court’s misrepresentation that he would not be privy to discovery nor plea negotiations.

Error occurred during jury selection when the trial judge erroneously denied appellant’s cause challenge of potential juror Dorothy Morse. Ms. Morse clearly favored capital punishment for all first-degree murder cases. Additionally, Ms. Morse believed that appellant would be released in twenty or thirty years if he was sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. Appellant exhausted his peremptory challenges and requested additional. Appellant wanted

to exercise a peremptory challenge on juror Weinberg who leaned toward the imposition of the death penalty. Although there is some confusion about the preservation of this issue, close scrutiny of the record indicates that this issue was preserved for review.

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