IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1550

CLEMENTE JAVIER AQUIRRE-JARQUIN

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS Fla. Bar No. 410519 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

<u>Point I.</u> The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in finding Aguirre knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to self-representation. The judge followed the colloquy endorsed by this Court. After being so advised, Aguirre told the judge he would proceed with current counsel.

Point II. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in ruling on the motion for new trial. The *Brady/Giglio* portion of this claim was never raised at the trial level, and is waived on appeal. The trial judge properly analyzed the new evidence and weighed both the newly discovered evidence and the evidence which was introduced at the trial pursuant to *Jones*. The evidence that the palm print on the knife may not belong to Aguirre probably would not change the outcome of the trial, given the fact Aguirre testified he handled the knife and the substantial evidence against him.

<u>Point III</u>. The issue of whether the trial judge abused his discretion by denying the cause challenge on Juror Morse is not preserved for review. When defense counsel requested an additional peremptory challenge, he did not identify

Juror Morse as the juror who should have been stricken for cause and he did not identify Juror Weinberg as the specific juror on which he would use an additional peremptory challenge. Furthermore, Juror Morse's responses to questions did not rise to the level justifying a cause challenge. Error, if any, was harmless, and this Court should recede from the *per se* rule of *Trotter v. State*, 576 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 1991), and adopt the dissent in *Busby v. State*, 894 So. 2d 88 (Fla. 2004).

Point IV. Aguirre moved for judgment of acquittal on the burglary charge only. There was ample circumstantial evidence to support the verdict for burglary. Pursuant to this Court's automatic review of the sufficiency of the evidence on the murder charges, there is ample evidence of guilt. The victims' blood was on Aguirre's clothing and the knife used to kill them, the knife was found outside Aguirre's residence, the murder weapon had been in Aguirre's residence and was brought to the crime scene, footprints consistent with Aguirre's footwear were all over the crime scene, and Aguirre gave three different stories on his involvement.

Point V. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in allowing Samantha Williams to testify that Aguirre had entered the residence without permission and she told him to leave and never enter without permission again. This evidence is directly relevant to the burglary charge. Aguirre alleges this was inadmissible Williams rule evidence; however, the evidence was relevant to opportunity, identity, knowledge and absence of mistake. Error, if any, was harmless. Aguirre

testified that seven months before the murders, Samantha told him not to enter her home in the middle of the night, and he was told at another time not to come into the house. There was ample evidence of guilt.

Point VI. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in instructing the jury on the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance in reference to Carol Bareis. The State presented sufficient evidence to obtain the instruction. Aguirre brought the murder weapon to the scene, could have left after he disabled Williams, and executed a strategically-placed blow to Bareis' heart. Error, if any, was harmless.

<u>Point VII</u>. The trial court's finding of the avoid-arrest aggravating circumstance as to Carol Bareis is supported by competent substantial evidence. There was no reason to kill Bareis except to eliminate her as a witness. Bareis knew Aguirre, he was not wearing a disguise, and he violently murdered Bareis' daughter in front of her. *Ring* is not implicated in this case because Aguirre was convicted of a contemporaneous murder, which established the prior-violent-felony aggravator and was convicted of burglary, which established the during-the-course-of-a-felony aggravator. Error, if any, was harmless.

Point VIII. The trial court findings on the heinous, atrocious aggravator are supported by substantial competent evidence. Carol Bareis watched helplessly as her daughter was violently killed in front of her. She was aware of her impending

death but was confined to a wheelchair and waited in horror for the stab to her heart. The sentence of death is proportional to other similarly situated death cases.

<u>Points IX, X and XI</u>. These points contain challenges to the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statutes. This Court has repeatedly rejected the various arguments.

POINT I

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN ADVISING AGUIRRE ON HIS RIGHT TO SELF-REPRESENTATION

Aguirre claims he was denied the right to represent himself in violation of *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). He concedes that the trial judge "duly conducted" *Nelson*²¹ hearings each time Aguirre voiced a complaint about counsel. (Initial Brief at 22). He also concedes that the trial judge advised him of his right to represent himself. (Initial Brief at 24). However, Aguirre argues, when he unequivocally asserted his right to self-representation at the November 8, 2005, *Nelson* hearing, the trial judge misstated the law and misled him into waiving the right to represent himself. (Initial Brief at 25-26). The State agrees that the standard of review is abuse of discretion. *Holland v. State*, 773 So. 2d 1065, 1069 (Fla. 2000).

The record shows that Aguirre launched several complaints about the progress of his trial and the representation of trial counsel. (V16, R436-455; 459-89). Each time, Judge Eaton explored the complaints thoroughly and resolved the complaints. The first such hearing was February 11, 2005. Aguirre stated he was promised discovery in Spanish but had not received any documents. (V16, R439). Defense counsel said his office had received over 1000 documents, deposed

²¹ Nelson v. State, 274 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973).

witnesses and was trying to locate others that had relocated. (V16, R440-42). Counsel had received a crime scene video which he planned to review with Aguirre at the jail. (V16, R443). Dr. Day, the mental health expert, had also been provided a large volume of material. (V16, R443). Counsel was reviewing an audio CD of the 911 call and an audio-taped interview of Aguirre with investigators. (V16, R444). He was in the process of having the taped interview translated into Spanish. (V16, R444). Counsel had been informed the initial translation of the interview was incorrect and was seeking another translation. (V16, R445-46). At Aguirre's insistence, counsel provided Aguirre with the incorrectly transcribed interview. (V16, R446). Counsel was very careful when discussing evidence with his client. (V16, R448). He even warned Aguirre of the dangers of having discovery material in the jail. (V16, R449). Counsel continued to prepare Aguirre for the possibility that the State might seek the death penalty. (V16, R450).

Judge Eaton explained the capital litigation process to Aguirre and found counsel was adequately representing Aguirre. (V16, R451-453). Aguirre was offered the opportunity to represent himself, but chose to have current counsel continue to represent him. (V16, R453-54).

The second *Nelson* hearing was June 10, 2005. Aguirre's complaints included not receiving information, and phone calls not being returned. (V16, R462). Aguirre also wanted copies of the DNA results, but counsel informed him

that the State had not yet provided those results. (V16, R462-63). In addition, certain requested documents had not been transcribed into Spanish. (V16, R463).

Counsel responded, stating that he continued to conduct pre-trial discovery. (V16, R464). Counsel had not received all the DNA results and did not want to depose the FDLE analysts until testing was completed. (V16, R465). Counsel had filed motions for additional discovery. (V16 R466). There had been a change in prosecutors, and the State supposedly had scheduled a meeting to determine when the DNA testing would be completed. (V16, R466-67). That meeting did not take place. (V16- R467-68). Counsel had conducted some depositions, but he was still attempting to locate several witnesses who had relocated. (V16, R469). Several depositions had to re-scheduled. (V16, R470). Counsel had been trying to provide Aguirre with documents in Spanish. (V16, R470-72, 473). One added inconvenience was that counsel needed an interpreter to discuss Aguirre's case with him. (V16, R471). An expert had examined Aguirre several times to prepare for mitigation. (V16, R474).

Judge Eaton reviewed with counsel the issues that needed to be resolved before the case would be ready for trial. (V16, R472-76). Aguirre specifically requested: (1) the statement from the daughter of the victim; (2) his taped statement to police; (3) discovery. (V16, R478). The trial judge discussed each issue with counsel. (V16, R478-84). The judge even offered to allow Aguirre to

use the court equipment to hear the audiotape since there had been difficulty playing the tape in jail. (V16, R484).

The court explained to Aguirre that capital cases take a long time to come to trial, in particular, due to forensic analysis. (V16, R478). The court explained that translating every bit of discovery into Spanish was not possible. (V16, R484; 488). The court found counsel was adequately representing Aguirre, and offered him the opportunity to represent himself. (V16, R485-86). Aguirre chose to have counsel continue to represent him. (V16, R487).

The issue on appeal involves the November 8, 2005, hearing. Counsel advised the court that Aguirre wanted to file a demand for speedy trial, and they had discussed the option. (V16, R547). Aguirre subsequently called counsel and said he did want to file the demand. (V16, R548). Counsel told Aguirre he was "not going to honor his request because we did not feel it was in his best interest." Aguirre asked for a hearing with the judge. (V16, R548). Counsel was concerned about going to trial at that point because the State was seeking the death penalty and he was not yet fully prepared to present the mitigation. (V16, R549). The mental health expert had been consulted, but they had not been able to engage in a lengthy discussion with her on the theory of mitigation. (V16, R549-50). Because Aguirre is from Honduras and had connections to Nicaragua, it was difficult not only to contact all the family members, but also the people the family members

said could produce mitigation information. (V16, R550). Counsel believed he would be fully prepared by the February trial docket, which was in three months. (V16, R552). For that reason, counsel did not want to file a demand for speedy trial. (V16, R552).

The prosecutor observed that pre-trial hearings and depositions were already set through December 14, and the depositions of other witnesses had not been set. (V16, R552-53). The State was also contemplating filing additional charges -- burglary and aggravated abuse of the elderly -- and the hearing date for consolidation was November 28. (V16, R553). The February trial date would mean Aguirre would have been in jail 20 months. (V16, R554). Further, counsel wanted to keep Judge Eaton on the case and knew that he was unavailable the rest of the year. (V16, R558).

The court informed Aguirre of the seriousness of the charges against him, and that the schedule and progress made were reasonable. (V16, R560). Aguirre felt that 17 months in jail was too long to wait for trial. (V16, R560). Further, counsel told Aguirre that he thought they would lose, and "I don't think a lawyer can tell that to his client at any time for any reason." Therefore, Aguirre wanted to fire counsel. (V16, R561).

At this point, counsel requested the prosecutor leave the courtroom. (V16, R561).

Judge Eaton advised Aguirre of his options: keep present counsel, hire an attorney, or represent himself. Aguirre said he wanted to represent himself. (V16, R562). The trial judge requested the courtroom to be cleared, and swore the defendant. (V16, R563). Aguirre stated that he was dissatisfied with the attorneys because they told him he had a "five percent chance of winning." (V16, R564). He did not think the attorneys should be so concerned about the penalty phase, yet they were not ready for the penalty phase. (V16, R564-65). Aguirre did not want to be represented by someone "who says that we're gonna lose." (V16, R567).

Judge Eaton told Aguirre he would set the case for trial as soon as possible but that would probably be after the first of the year. Aguirre stated he understood and "I don't wish to change judges." However, he did not want present counsel to remain his lawyers. (V16, R568).

Defense counsel responded to Aguirre's complaints and advised the court of the discovery he had undertaken and his assessment of the evidence. (V16, R5669-70). Aguirre told counsel that if his choices were life in prison or death, he would choose death. (V16, R575). Notwithstanding, counsel wanted to prepare a thorough penalty phase. Because all Aguirre's background materials are in Honduras and Nicaragua, that slowed the mitigation investigation. (V16, R575-76). Aguirre had just begun to "open up and give us some of the information." Aguirre

had just "within the last few months" given counsel the opportunity to have contact with members of his family. (V16, R576).

Judge Eaton found that counsel's representation was not unreasonable, so he would not "fire" them and appoint new counsel. (V16, R580). Aguirre was advised of his options: continue with present counsel, hire an attorney, or represent himself. Aguirre said he wanted to represent himself. (V16, R581).

The court then advised Aguirre of the disadvantages of self-representation. (V16, R582-88). Judge Eaton closely followed the colloquy approved by this Court in *In re: Amendments to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111(d)(2)-(3)*, 719 So. 2d 873, 876-78 (Fla. 1998).

Aguirre claims that the lower court abused its discretion in following the colloquy approved by this Court, specifically, the section about not having direct access to the prosecuting attorney. This caveat is expressly outlined in the colloquy approved by this Court. *In re: Amendments to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111(d)(2)-(3)*, 719 So. 2d at 877.²² Aguirre's argument seems to boil down to the statement that the decision not to represent himself "flowed directly from the trial court's preemptive and incorrect announcement that Appellant would have no access to the prosecutor for negotiation or discovery." (Initial Brief at 26). Aguirre was advised

²² This portion of the colloquy reads:

Do you understand that your access to the State Attorney who is prosecuting you will be severely reduced as compared to a lawyer who could easily contact the State Attorney?

of numerous disadvantages to self-representation. He made no indication that his decision to continue with counsel was based on the fact he would not have access to the prosecutor. To the contrary, the only concern expressed by Aguirre was that the attorneys thought they were going to lose. (V16, R588).

Rule 3.111(d) provides:

- (d) Waiver of Counsel.
- (2) A defendant shall not be considered to have waived the assistance of counsel until the entire process of offering counsel has been completed and a thorough inquiry has been made into both the accused's comprehension of that offer and the accused's capacity to make a knowing and intelligent waiver. Before determining whether the waiver is knowing and intelligent, the court shall advise the defendant of the disadvantages and dangers of self-representation.
- (3) Regardless of the defendant's legal skills or the complexity of the case, the court shall not deny a defendant's unequivocal request to represent him or helself, if the court makes a determination of record that the defendant has made a knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to counsel.

This Court published a model colloquy due to inconsistencies in the colloquys at the trial level. *In re Amendments to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111(d)(2)-(3)*, 719 So. 2d 873 (Fla. 1998). The lower court followed this colloquy line by line, reciting the numerous warnings included in that colloquy. Per Rule 3.111 and *Faretta*, a trial court must follow the colloquy to ensure the waiver of counsel is knowing and voluntary. *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 825.

In *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917, 927 (Fla. 2001), this Court cited to the factors outlined in *United States v. Fant*, 890 F.2d 408 (11th Cir. 1989), to determine whether a defendant made a knowing and voluntary waiver:

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